# Drivers and constraints of on-farm diversity. A review

Francesco Tacconi<sup>1,2</sup> · Katharina Waha<sup>1</sup> · Jonathan Jesus Ojeda<sup>2,3</sup> · Peat Leith<sup>1,2</sup>

#### Abstract

Enhancing and maintaining on-farm diversity is a potential strategy to improve farming systems' sustainability and resilience. However, diversification is driven or constrained by different factors and dynamics that vary across environmental, socio-economic and political contexts. Identifying drivers and constraints of diversification can help to support the adoption of on-farm diversification strategies, where doing so is beneficial. For the first time, we systematically review and summarise recent peer-reviewed studies assessing drivers and constraints of on-farm diversity from 42 different countries. From 2312 studies, we selected a total of 97, reporting 239 drivers and constraints, which we categorised using the Sustainable Rural Livelihood Framework. We extracted the number of times they were assessed as having a positive, negative or neutral relationship with on-farm diversity. Some factors mainly have a positive relationship, such as the need to adapt to risks or belonging to indigenous ethnicities, but for most of the others the results are mixed. Our major conclusions are as follows: (1) The adoption of diversification strategies is affected by both production and demand dynamics, with differences depending on farms and contexts; (2) small subsistence-oriented farms tend to adopt on-farm diversification strategies to cope with environmental characteristics and risks and satisfy their subsistence needs; (3) farmers may shift towards specialisation strategies if the comparative advantage of diversification and its natural insurance effect gets displaced by market opportunities, financial capital, technologies and the availability of alternative and more profitable sources of income; (4) the availability of technologies enabling farm diversification and the access to alternative market options are crucial to stimulate the implementation and maintenance of on-farm diversity; (5) future policies and research promoting the adoption of on-farm diversification strategies need to design mechanisms and incentives that consider the opportunity-cost of alternative livelihood opportunities, and that are suitable for the local context and for farmers' objectives.

Keywords Agricultural diversity · Agrobiodiversity · Farmers decision-making · Diversified farming systems

### Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Methodology
  - 2.1 Definitions of agricultural diversity
  - 2.2 Literature search and screening criteria
  - 2.3 Data extraction
  - 2.4 Data assessment

Francesco Tacconi francesco.tacconi@csiro.au

- <sup>1</sup> Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation, 306 Carmody Road, St Lucia, Brisbane, QLD 4067, Australia
- <sup>2</sup> Tasmanian Institute of Agriculture University of Tasmania, Sandy Bay Campus, Hobart, TAS 7005, Australia
- <sup>3</sup> Regrow Ag, Brisbane, QLD 4101, Australia

3. Geographical focus and different definitions of on-farm diversity

- 4. Drivers and constraints of on-farm diversity
  - 4.1 External drivers and constraints
    - 4.1.1 Agroecological context
    - 4.1.2 Risks and shocks
    - 4.1.3 Policy and institutional context
  - 4.2 Internal drivers and constraints
    - 4.2.1 Human capital
    - 4.2.2 Physical capital
    - 4.2.3 Economic and financial capital
    - 4.2.4 Social capital
- 5. Discussion and limitations
- 6. Conclusions

References

### **1** Introduction

Promoting and supporting agricultural diversity at different scales represents an important approach to averting diverse challenges for the implementation of more sustainable agricultural systems (Bioversity International 2019; FAO 2019; HLPE 2019). In the past decades, agricultural production and productivity have increased remarkably, mainly driven by processes of expansion, intensification and specialisation (Pingali 2012). These processes also increased pressure on the natural environment and a progressive homogenisation of rural landscapes and food consumption (Khoury et al. 2014; Herrero et al. 2017; Ramankutty et al. 2018; Benton and Bailey 2019).

At farm level, diversification strategies have shown some promise to increase biodiversity and ecosystem services, reduce the dependence for external input and, also, improve yields and yield stability (Di Falco and Perrings 2003; Renard and Tilman 2019; Rosa-Schleich et al. 2019; Sirami et al. 2019). Moreover, agricultural diversification can potentially benefit households' food and nutritional security status by providing access to a broader variety of food products and a more balanced and diversified diet (Remans et al. 2014; Jones 2017). However, it is still far from clear where, why, how and to what conditions and degree farmlevel diversification is a viable strategy.

Growing international attention to farm diversification (FAO 2019; HLPE 2019) creates an imperative to ensure that future research and interventions that aim to respectively understand and promote it are well-reasoned, allow for comparability and are well-targeted. Other recent reviews have assessed different approaches to define crop diversification (Hufnagel et al. 2020) and provided evidence about the impacts and the ecological and economic trade-offs generated by diversified farming systems (Kremen and Miles 2012; Beillouin and Ben-ari 2019; Rosa-Schleich et al. 2019; Tamburini et al. 2020). However, to our knowledge, this study is the first review following a systematic approach that summarises the recent scientific literature about the drivers and constraints of on-farm diversity at farm scale, cross-referencing studies conducted across different farming systems and world regions. The only recent review assessing drivers and processes of agricultural diversification by Schroth and Ruf (2014) focused specifically on agroforestry systems in tropical regions.

In this study, we review recent literature to identify what drivers and constraints influence farm-level diversification. We focus on farm-scale diversity of agricultural products, which we refer to as on-farm diversity the number of crops, plants, trees and livestock species grown, and that are consumed, traded and used in different ways in the farming system (Fig. 1). The extent of on-farm diversity varies considerably across the world regions and spatial scales (Herrero et al. 2017; Ramankutty et al. 2018). Farms are dynamic systems that farmers adapt, not least by changing, increasing, or maintaining their on-farm diversity, to satisfy their needs and objectives. Such decisions are influenced by the interaction of numerous factors (McIntire et al. 1992; Scoones 1998; Ellis 2000; Herrero et al. 2013) that we examine as drivers and constraints. We define drivers as the factors that create impetus towards greater diversification at farm scale, and constraints as factors acting in the opposite direction. Understanding these interacting features is crucial to identify where investments and interventions to support diversification are likely to be appropriate and effective, and how they should be targeted.

The overall objectives of this study are (1) to review recent studies that examine drivers and constraints of onfarm diversification around the world; (2) to categorise the most applied indices and measures to quantify on-farm diversification; (3) to identify which drivers and constraints are the most relevant and most studied, the methodologies used to assess their relationship with diversification and to discuss their impact on farmers' choices; and (4) to identify agroecological and socio-economic patterns associated with these drivers and constraints. First, we present the methods used to select the studies and the approach adopted to identify and categorise the drivers and constraints of diversification (Section. 2). Second, we present and discuss the results of the review and the different categories of drivers and constraints (Sections. 3-4). Finally, we discuss overall results and limitations, and draw the conclusions (Sections. 5-6).

# 2 Methodology

### 2.1 Definitions of agricultural diversity

There are multiple approaches to defining and addressing diversity in agricultural systems. According to Hufnagel et al. (2020), definitions of agricultural diversity vary across geographical contexts, the spatial or temporal scale considered, and the discipline and objective of the study. At farm level—the scale of analysis of this review—we can identify four broad definitions of diversity in the agricultural context that have been used. First, *on-farm diversity*, such as the crop or livestock species and varieties produced or part of the farming system; crop-livestock integrated production systems; agroforestry systems, when woody or herbaceous perennials are grown in mixture with crops and/or animals. This is extended as *agrobiodiversity*, which includes wild

**Fig. 1** Diversified on-farm production in a small farm close to Hanoi, Vietnam. Photograph courtesy of Jeda Palmer.



plant species maintained and used in the farm. Second, a broader definition of agricultural diversity can refer to the "whole" biological diversity of the farming system, taking into account the presence of insects, wild animal species and the richness of the soil microbial community (Kremen and Miles 2012). This definition expands the role of diversity to species that might provide ecosystem services, such as pollination, pests and diseases control, cycling of nutrients and water and other physico-chemical processes (Garibaldi et al. 2014; McDaniel et al. 2014; Gaba et al. 2015). Third, *livelihood diversity* is another type of diversity. Farmers often engage in off-farm activities, in other farms or in different businesses to increase, or diversify, their sources of income (Nguyen et al. 2019). Fourth, Multifunctional farming includes additional components respect to the intrinsic agricultural production. It defines a "vertical" diversification of the farming business, which involves an additional set of farm-based and -related activities, such as agritourism, agricultural education, promotion of ecological services and bio-energy production (van der Ploeg et al. 2009).

We are aware that all these forms of diversification can be important and, in some contexts, more impactful in improving farmers' livelihoods than on-farm diversity (Barrett et al. 2001; Sibhatu et al. 2015). Nevertheless, in this review, we are interested in understanding the factors that lead farmers to maintain, increase or simplify their production diversity. Therefore, we focus on the analysis of drivers and constraints of on-farm diversity.

#### 2.2 Literature search and screening criteria

We first ran a literature search on two online databases for multidisciplinary research, Scopus (www.scopus.com) and Web of Science (www.webofknowledge.com). We focused on peer-reviewed publications only. The key terms employed focused on "agricultural diversity", "drivers and constraints" and respective synonyms or similar terms (Table 1). We filtered the results to journal articles or literature reviews published in English. The search was run on 6<sup>th</sup> December 2019. We obtained 1680 studies from Scopus and 1662 from Web of Science, for a total of 3342 from interdisciplinary journals. We then excluded the duplicates using the reference management software EndNote X9.2 (https://endnote.com/), obtaining 3054 studies. The number of studies published per year increased considerably after 2010, with the studies published after 2010 accounting for 76% of the total (from 1975 to 2020). To focus the review on current literature we only selected studies published after 2010, obtaining a new total of 2312 studies.

Second, we proceeded by screening titles and abstracts. Our selection criteria required that the studies (1) presented the analysis of drivers and constraints of on-farm diversification among their main objectives; (2) focused on on-farm diversity (crops, livestock, mixed systems, agrobiodiversity and agroforestry systems), rather than other definitions of agricultural diversification, such as livelihood diversification or off-farm diversification; (3) focused on-farm and household level rather than on a global or landscape scale. At this stage, we removed 2172 studies and selected 140.

The final step was the full-text reading that led to the removal of 43 studies, as they did not meet the previous

 Table 1
 Literature review query strings key used on Scopus and Web of Science.

Search tool	Key of search		
Scopus	TITLE-ABS-KEY ("agricultur* diversity" OR "agrobiodiversity" OR "agricultur* diversification" OR "crop diversi*" OR "production diversi*" OR "live- lihood diversi*" OR "farming diversi*") AND ("driver*" OR "constraint*" OR "factor*" OR "enabler*" OR "enabling factor*" OR "moti- vation*" OR "enabling factor*" OR "incentiv*" OR "influenc*" OR "obstacl*") AND (LIMIT-TO ( LANGUAGE, "English")) AND (LIMIT-TO ( DOCTYPE, "ar") OR LIMIT-TO (DOCTYPE "m"))		
Web of Science	<ul> <li>(TS = ("agricultur* diversity" OR""agrobiodiversity" OR "agricultur* diversification" OR "crop diversi*" OR "production diversi*" OR "live- lihood diversi*" OR "farming diversi*") AND ("driver*" OR "constraint*" OR "factor*" OR "enabler*" OR "enabling factor*" OR "moti- vation*" OR "motivating" OR "reason*" OR "incentiv*" OR "influenc*" OR "obstacl*")) AND LANGUAGE: (English) AND DOCUMENT TYPES: (Article OR Review)</li> </ul>		

selection criteria or the expected quality requirements (i.e. missing relevant information on the dataset and methodology). The 97 remaining studies were the final selection. Within this final group, we identified 73 studies eligible for data extraction, as they provided a quantitative assessment of the relationship between on-farm diversity and drivers and constraints. The remaining studies (n=24) were kept in support of the discussion. A workflow diagram of the literature search and screening is shown in Fig. 2.

### 2.3 Data extraction

The data extraction aimed to identify variables studied as potential drivers or constraints of on-farm diversification and to report if their effect was positive, negative and consistent across different studies and contexts. For this, we collected the following information:

 (i) The *definition of on-farm diversity* used in the study, namely *crop diversity* (accounting for crop species), *livestock diversity* (livestock species), *mixed production* (both crop and livestock species), *agroforestry* and *agrobiodiversity*. Grasslands were either allocated to crop diversity or agrobiodiversity depending by classification provided in the specific studies.



Fig. 2 Workflow diagram of literature review and selection.

- (ii) The *indices* and *measures* used to quantify on-farm diversity (Table 2).
- (iii) The geographical location(s) covered by the study (country and continent).
- (iv) The explanatory variables studied as *potential drivers or constraints* of on-farm diversity. For each of these variables, we reported and counted the times (number of assessments) in which the effect on onfarm diversity was assessed as *significantly positive* (P), *significantly negative* (N) or *statistically not significant* (NS). We based our evaluation on the significance level used in each study. For some categorical variables (e.g. ethnicity, agroecological region, topography), we could not report an overall positive or negative effect on on-farm diversity. Therefore, we only reported whether these variables had a *significant* (S) or not significant effect.

In the event that, in a single study, the robustness of the effect of one or more variables on the same on-farm diversity indicator was assessed by employing more than one statistical method of analysis (e.g. Bezabih and Sarr, (2012)), we only reported the predominant effect to avoid double counting. For example, we registered the effect as positive if an explanatory variable had significantly positive effect in two of the statistical methods applied and none in a third one. In the event of an even number of conflicting results, we prioritised the statistically significant effect (e.g. if the effect resulted 1 P and 1 NS, it was reported as

Index	Measure	Formula/Description		Results
Species richness	Richness	Count of the number of species cultivated (or sold) in the farm		36
Diversity adoption	Motivations	Boolean operator: -the farm is diversified/intend to diversify = 1 -the farm is not diversified/does not intend to diversify = 0		18
Simpson index (SID)	Relative abundance	$SID = 1 - \sum_{i}^{S} p_{i}^{2}$ with $0 < SID < 1$	$a_i = \text{area cultivated with crop } i$ $A = \text{Total area cultivated}$ $p_i = a_i / A;$ $S = \text{total number of species (species richness)}$ $SID = \begin{cases} \sim 1 \rightarrow \text{perfect diversification} \\ 0 \rightarrow \text{perfect specialisation} \end{cases}$	16
Shannon index (H)	Evenness, proportional abundance	$H = -\sum_{i=1}^{S} p_i \ln p_i$ with $H \ge 1$	As species evenness increases, <i>H</i> assumes higher values.	15
Pielou index (J)	Evenness, proportional abundance	$J = H/H_{max} = H/\ln S$ with $0 < J < 1$	H = Shannon Index $H_{max} =$ max possible value of $H$ (species distribution is perfectly even)	6
			$J = \begin{cases} \sim 1 \to \max \text{ evenness} \\ \sim 0 \to \min \text{ evenness} \end{cases}$	
Margalef index (MI)	Richness	$MI = (S - 1)/\ln S$ with $MI \ge 0$	N=total number of individuals MI increases with the increasing of Spe- cies richness.	2
Berger–Parker index (BPI)	Relative abundance	$BPI = 1/\max(p_i)$ with $BPI \ge 1$	As <i>BPI</i> increases, it is assumed a higher diversity.	2
Composite entropy index (CEI)	Evenness, proportional abundance	$\begin{aligned} CEI &= -\sum_{i=1}^{N} p_i \ln\left(p_i\right) (1 - \frac{1}{N}) \\ \text{with } 0 \leq CEI \leq 1 \end{aligned}$	$CEI = \begin{cases} 1 \to \max \text{ diversification} \\ \sim 0 \to \max \text{ specialisation} \end{cases}$	2
Herfindahl–Hirschman index (HHI)	Specialisation (inverse of <i>Simpson</i> <i>index</i> )	$HHI = \sum_{i}^{P} p_{i}^{2}$ with $0 \le HHI \le 1$	$HHI = \begin{cases} 1 \to \max \text{ specialisation} \\ \sim 0 \to \max \text{ diversification} \end{cases}$	1

 Table 2
 On-farm diversity indices and measures identified in the selected studies.

1 P). We did not encounter any case of conflicting results between significantly positive and significantly negative effects within the same study. However, we reported the same explanatory variables more than once if, in the same study, it was assessed for different on-farm diversity definitions and measures or on different data. Finally, anytime we identified the same variables named differently across different studies, we re-named them under a common label to be able to match and compare them (e.g. "age of the household head (HH)" and "household head age" were both coded as "HH age").

The dataset with all the extracted data and information about the original variables from each study are available in the following online digital repository: https://doi.org/10. 6084/m9.figshare.14151659.v2 (Tacconi et al. 2021).

#### 2.4 Data assessment

We extracted a total of 239 different explanatory variables and grouped them following the approach of the Sustainable Rural Livelihood Framework (Scoones 1998; Ellis 2000). The framework (Fig. 3) defines that farmers' opportunity to adopt different livelihood strategies, including on-farm diversification, is driven or constrained by external (agroecological context, the political and institutional context at local, regional and wider scales, and exposure to environmental and market risks and shocks) and internal factors (human, economic/financial, socio-cultural and physical capitals). The previous or current implementation of other livelihood strategies has also an important potential influence on farmers' choices and possibilities to adopt farm diversification strategies. We dedicated a specific section to other livelihood strategies (Section. 4.3), in which the results mostly emphasised the role of the engagement in off-farm activities. In this regard, it is necessary to remark that onfarm diversification is not a farmers' goal per se, but only one of the potential strategies in their livelihood portfolio. The trade-offs associated with choices among livelihood strategies are likely to have an important role in farmers' decision-making (Scoones 1998).

Finally, the extracted variables were evaluated based on the total number of statistically positive, statistically negative, statistically significant and not significant assessments encountered across the selected studies.



Fig. 3 Sustainable Rural Livelihood Framework applied to on-farm diversity drivers and constraints. External and internal drivers and constraints affect livelihood strategies portfolio and the decision to diversify (adapted from Scoones, 1998 and Ellis, 2000).

# 3 Geographical focus and different definitions of on-farm diversity

The 97 studies included in the final selection were published in a total of 53 different journals of various disciplines, from agricultural economics, food security, agricultural policies, social sciences to ecology, biology and forestry (Tacconi et al. 2021).

The studies covered 42 different countries in total (Fig. 4a). If grouped by income (World Bank 2021), lower-middle-income (48% of the total) and upper-middle-income economies (26%) were the most represented in the sample of studies, while low-income and highincome economies accounted for 13% each (Fig. 4b). Most of the studies focused on Africa (n = 32) and Asia (n = 25) (Fig. 4b). This might be explained by the topic of the review itself, as on-farm diversification is often associated with small and subsistence farms, which are prevalent in these regions (McCord et al. 2015; HLPE 2019; Bellon et al. 2020). In other regions, like Europe, the attention might be more focused on broader definitions of farm diversification such as multifunctionality (van der Ploeg et al. 2009; Manning et al. 2018), which were not in the scope of this review. In Section. 4, we reported when the results came from specific countries if relevant to understanding the relationship between diversification and a driver or constraint.

We encountered five different definitions of on-farm diversity across the selected studies, with some studies

that used more than one (Fig. 5). Crop diversity was the most investigated (n = 59), followed by agrobiodiversity (n = 19), agroforestry systems (n = 12), crop-livestock mixed systems (n = 11) and livestock diversity (n = 1)(Fig. 5). This shows that crop diversity is the most popular indicator of on-farm diversification in use. Also in this case, the imbalance did not allow us to compare the different diversity definitions. The data analysed span from small samples of local rural households collected for the purposes of single studies (Kawa et al. 2015; Sander and Vandebroek 2016) to large and regionally or nationally representative household datasets (Herrera et al. 2018; Weigel et al. 2018), covering farms of different land size, objectives and level of diversity. For instance, among the 20 studies measuring crop species richness, we identified a range in average species richness from 1 to 27 (Tacconi et al. 2021). Fifty-three studies reported the average land size in their sample and two thirds of them reported land size being inferior or equal to 5 ha (Tacconi et al. 2021).

# 4 Drivers and constraints of on-farm diversity

An overview of the total results for each category of drivers and constraints accordingly to the Sustainable Rural Livelihood Framework is provided in Fig. 6. The category of internal drivers and constraints presented the highest number of



Fig. 4 Number of studies by (a) country (green scale), (b) continent, and (c) income groups according to the World Bank classification (2021). Dark grey areas in the map indicate regions for which no data were available.



Fig. 5 Number of assessments by on-farm diversity type.

assessments and variables (Fig. 6). Interestingly, the assessment of the human capital variables had overall a higher number of not significant cases. This might indicate that the effect of this category of variables may be highly dependent on other factors. Each category among the external drivers and constraints and other livelihoods strategies produced less results; however, this does not mean that they are less relevant in farmers' decision-making. The in-depth interpretation of the role of each category requires the analysis of the single variables that we provided in the continuation of this section.

### 4.1 External drivers and constraints

#### 4.1.1 Agroecological context

Agroecological characteristics set the natural boundaries for the possible farm configurations (species richness) and **Fig. 6** Categories of drivers and constraints of on-farm diversity. For each category of variables (*y*-axis), the upper stack bar represents the total count of statistically significant effects reported on on-farm diversity, divided between positive (green), negative (red) and significant non-directional effects (yellow); the lower bar (grey) represents the total count of not significant assessments.



composition (species choice), and become even more relevant in regions where the access to technical skills, technology and capital is scarce (Katwal et al. 2015; Kankwamba et al. 2018). In the studies analysed, the correlation between the overall agroecological characteristics and the level of onfarm diversification was studied by adopting proxy variables that compared farm locations by local district ("District") (10 S, 5 NS) or based on the climatic and ecological characteristics of the region in which farms are located ("Agroecological region") (6 S, 5 NS). As expected, the results showed evidence that farms' geographic location has a significant influence on on-farm diversity as different environments and ecosystems require species with different characteristics (Fig. 7a). The most analysed variables representing specific environmental characteristics were topography, rainfall level and soil. We did not find enough evidence about the role of average temperatures, with only four assessments, all not significant and from the same study (Tesfaye and Tirivayi 2020) (Fig. 7a).

Topographic features, such as altitude and slope, affect other environmental characteristics like temperatures, soil erosion, wind and solar radiation exposure, but also the accessibility to farms and roads. When studied as a categorical variable topography had significant association with the extent of on-farm diversity (3 P) (Fan et al. 2019; Rayol et al. 2019), farmland slope may drive diversification (3 P, 4 NS) (Fig. 7a), as uneven conditions of agricultural land require the farmers to adapt by growing the appropriate crop combination for each area (Abebe 2013; Abebe et al. 2013; Schroth and Ruf 2014). This is one of the cases in which diversification becomes more a necessity than a choice. The results about the impact of farm altitude were mixed (7 P, 5 N, 7 NS) (Fig. 7a). A higher altitude generally means a more complex and vulnerable environment for agriculture to which farmers adapt in different ways, depending on other socio-economic indicators (Samberg et al. 2010). For instance, in regions characterised by monocultures or few species that do not perform well at high altitudes, farmers located at higher elevations may need to diversify by adopting a mix of species that better adapt to the different environment (Min et al. 2017; Nguyen et al. 2017; Tesfaye and Tirivayi 2020). In contrast, where farms tend to diversify more, altitude represents a constraint. At lower elevations, the environmental conditions often allow the production of a broader set of crop or livestock species (Abebe et al. 2013; Skarbø 2014) and provide better access to roads and markets. This makes it easier to manage more complex and diverse farming systems and commercialise the products (Samberg et al. 2013).

On-farm diversification decisions are also influenced by rainfall level and farmers' rainfall expectation (Di Falco et al. 2010a; Bezabih and Sarr 2012; Bhatta et al. 2016). We identified a total of 22 assessments of different rainfall indicators with mixed results on the diversification strategies (Fig. 7a). The assessments were mainly conducted in arid and semi-arid regions. Some studies reported that higher rainfall levels can allow farmers to produce a broader array of crops and reduce their reliance on investment in irrigation



systems (Di Falco et al. 2010a; McCord et al. 2015). However, in areas characterised by rapid and excessive rainfall, the potential of farm diversification can be negatively affected. Bhatta et al. (2016) compared three different regions of India, Nepal and Bangladesh and identified an inverted-U relationship between annual rainfall and on-farm diversification with an optimal annual rainfall regime in correspondence of 1500-2100 mm. Rainfall inter-seasonal or -annual variability emerged as another relevant determinant of diversification (Di Falco et al. 2010a; Bezabih and Sarr 2012). Increasing both crop richness and evenness resulted a common strategy to cope against rainfall variation and farmers' rainfall expectations play an important role in this (Bezabih and Sarr 2012; Saenz and Thompson 2017). In Ethiopia, Di Falco et al. (2010b) and Bezabih and Sarr (2012) found that current (in the same year) and lagged (previous year or season) rainfall level impact in a different way the richness of crop species grown. With a previous year characterised by scarce or highly variable rainfall, farmers were more likely to adopt crop diversification strategies to spread the risk or simply to introduce some draught-resistant crops. On the contrary with positive rainfall expectation, farmers would focus more on few high-value and marketable crops. In the same year, the effect was the opposite as farmers would increase their on-farm diversity if the current rainfall level would allow them to grow different crop varieties (Di Falco et al. 2010a; Bezabih and Sarr 2012). The diversification strategies related to rainfall variability are not only limited to the level of species richness but has also an influence on the type of crop adopted. With increasing rainfall uncertainty, farmers may prefer to allocate more land and give priority to food crops over cash crops, with the aim of ensuring the household's food security threshold (Min et al. 2017; Saenz and Thompson 2017).

We only identified 12 quantitative assessments about soil characteristics (e.g. fertility, texture, quality and erodibility) and 5 of them were not significant (Tacconi et al. 2021). Some studies found that low-fertile soils may limit farm diversification potential, by reducing the conditions to grow certain crops and feed livestock (Kasem and Thapa 2011; Lazíková et al. 2019). On the other hand, fertile and high-quality soils reduce production risks and may lead to profit-maximisation strategies including the specialisation few high-value crops. Crop diversification may be instead the preferred adaptation strategy for farmers cultivating on poor soils to cope with production risks (Bezabih and Sarr 2012; Makate et al. 2016; Roesch-McNally et al. 2018). This matches with the results of Weigel et al. (2018) that found that in Bavaria soils with a better quality [according to the definition of Mueller et al. (2012)] were mainly dedicated to intensified and simplified farming system, whereas farms located in areas with less fertile soil adopted a more diversified production, as a strategy of natural insurance (Weigel et al. 2018).

#### 4.1.2 Risks and shocks

Farming activity is highly vulnerable to climatic and market risks and shocks, to which farmers react based on their "buffer, adaptive and transformative capability" (Darnhofer 2014). Previous studies have shown that farm diversification has the potential to stabilise yield variability (Di Falco and Perrings 2003; Renard et al. 2016). Therefore, farmers may diversify if they expect bad, variable or uncertain outcomes (risks) (Bezabih and Sarr 2012; Komarek et al. 2020), or in response to events that are experienced and lead to sudden and significant change (shocks) (Schroth and Ruf 2014; Nguyen et al. 2017; Tesfaye and Tirivayi 2020). The adoption of a diversified portfolio of activities can be also a strategy of natural insurance against market risks, such as commodity prices volatility, or adverse natural events, such as droughts, heat waves, or pests and diseases outbreaks (Markowitz 1959; Chavas and Di Falco 2012; Bioversity International 2019). On-farm diversification was often studied as an adaptation strategy in the studies reviewed and we identified a total of 48 assessments analysing directly the effect of variables representing factors of risk or previous shock events (Fig. 4). The statistically significant results were consistent across the different studies, confirming the assumptions above: farmers are likely to adopt on-farm diversification as a risk management strategy (21 P, 4 N and 23 NS).

In particular, the results showed that the farmers use of diversification strategies was more frequent in flood prone areas (Mandal and Bezbaruah 2013), subjected to a strong incidence of droughts (Asfaw et al. 2018), previous extreme weather events or shocks (Huang et al. 2014; Nguyen et al. 2017; Tesfaye and Tirivayi 2020) (Fig. 7b). In this regard, farmers' risk aversion and expectations based on the occurrence of previous extreme events emerged as drivers of on-farm diversification (Bezabih and Sarr 2012; Huang et al. 2014; Min et al. 2017; Tun Oo et al. 2017; Asravor 2019).

Markets represent another major source of risk and shocks for farming activities and market dynamics are essential components of farmers' decision-making process (Zawedde et al. 2014; Asante et al. 2018; Lancaster and Torres 2019). We identified 14 quantitative assessments of market risks and shocks variables. The statistically significant results confirm that the use of on-farm diversification as a risk management strategy is also a response to marketgenerated risks (6 P, 8 NS). A case study on rubber farms in Thailand found that the adoption of diversified farming system was a common response to rubber price fluctuations (Longpichai 2013). Similar results emerged from a study in Niger, which found that in presence of short-term food price fluctuations, farmers tended to rely more on the diversification of self-produced food (Asfaw et al. 2018). However, this capacity to respond to market shocks is highly dependent on farm characteristics. For instance, farms focussing on annual production will have different opportunities and flexibility to adapt through agricultural diversification strategies compared to farms with perennial productions (Schroth and Ruf 2014).

#### 4.1.3 Policy and institutional context

Policies and institutions can influence farmers' decisions through different measures, such as subsidies, taxes, agricultural support schemes, investments in research and rural training programmes. We identified a total of 63 assessments of variables within this category (27 P, 8 N and 28 NS) (Fig. 4). The most common were rural extension, agricultural support programmes, organic certifications, and research and technology investments in agriculture (Fig. 7c).

The effect of agricultural extension services on the adoption of diversified farming systems was the most studied variable within the policy and institutional context. The results showed a total of 17 positive assessments and 21 not significant (Fig. 7c), providing some evidence that extension services can stimulate on-farm diversification. Agricultural trainings are not only a source technical knowledge and skills, but can promote and create awareness about the potential benefits of diversification and the adoption of new varieties (Makate et al. 2016; Kankwamba et al. 2018; Mofya-Mukuka and Hichaambwa 2018). Moreover, rural extension can be a channel to access new planting material (Samberg et al. 2013; Williams et al. 2018) and a source of updated information about market opportunities, new technologies, climate change and risk management strategies (McCord et al. 2015; Adjimoti et al. 2017; Tun Oo et al. 2017). The efficacy of extension services can be affected by farm accessibility (McCord et al. 2015), as less connected communities may have more difficulties in receiving visits and communicating with extension workers and NGOs operating in rural development projects (Williams 2016; Asante et al. 2018; Kankwamba et al. 2018).

The analysis of the impact of rural subsidies and agricultural development programmes showed that these measures can drive or constraint on-farm diversification, depending on their target and the local context (7P, 7 N, 2NS) (Fig. 7c). Policies based on strict agricultural planning and crop restrictions deter diversification strategies, as they push farmers towards specific crop or livestock species (Di Falco et al. 2010b; Markussen et al. 2011; Ciaian et al. 2018). Moreover, when these measures last for extended periods, they can generate structural changes or lock-ins. Therefore, they have the potential to continue hindering diversification after they are lifted because farmers may need time to re-adjust their farms (Di Falco et al. 2010b; Kasem and Thapa 2011). Similar findings emerged from the analysis of other crop-specific measures such as subsidies or minimum support price. For instance, policies supporting rice in Asia (Chhatre et al. 2016; Aditya et al. 2017; Burchfield and Poterie 2018) or maize in Africa (Saenz and Thompson 2017; Mofya-Mukuka and Hichaambwa 2018) acted as market distortions and drivers of specialisation by increasing the financial risk and opportunity-cost of alternative, or unsupported crops.

We found mixed evidence about the impact of policies supporting the access to agricultural inputs like seeds and fertiliser (3 P, 3 N, 1 NS) (Fig. 7c). Farmers can use the inputs to grow more species (Asante et al. 2018; Kankwamba et al. 2018) or to expand the production of the dominant crops (Saenz and Thompson 2017; Mofya-Mukuka and Hichaambwa 2018). Other forms of farmers' support, like direct payments and income integration, may reduce the importance of farm diversification as a risk management strategy and consequently its adoption (Lazíková et al. 2019; Ochoa. M. et al. 2019). On the contrary, policies promoting and supporting agroecological management resulted potentially effective in increasing on-farm diversity. For instance, in Brazil, the Brazilian School Feeding Programme (PNAE) and the Food Acquisition Plan (PAA) obtained encouraging results in stimulating on-farm diversification, even on farms previously involved in monocropping or different farming activities (Blesh and Wittman 2015; Valencia et al. 2019). However, as argued by Valencia et al. (2019), these policies may also create the risk of shifting farmers "from commodity markets to institutional markets". When these changes are not structural adaptations but policy dependent, their benefits might end once the same policy gets changed or removed.

Organic certification is another form of incentive for farmers to diversify. Five analyses investigated how organic certification affect farm diversification (2 P, 1 N, 1 NS). Farms with organic certification showed a higher extent of farm diversity in studies conducted in Bolivia (Jacobi et al. 2014) and in the USA (Lancaster and Torres 2019). Alternatively, Nastis et al. (2013), analysing a small sample of farms in Greece about the implication of the European Union's Common Agricultural Policy support on selected organic crops, found that this measure was likely to compete with crop diversity as a strategy of income stabilisation and to lead farmers to focus on the few supported crops (Nastis et al. 2013). Similar conclusions were drawn by other studies conducted in Europe by Lazíková et al. (2019) and Weigel et al (2018), which however, did not find statistical evidence in support of that.

We did not find any quantitative analysis involving the role of research and investments in agriculture on farmers' adoption of diversification strategies. However, studies covering different geographical areas, namely India, France, Belgium, and the USA, identified and discussed the necessity to expand research and innovations towards diversification practices (Chhatre et al. 2016; Casagrande et al. 2017; Borremans et al. 2018; Meynard et al. 2018; Roesch-McNally et al. 2018). Over time, a prevalent focus of policies and research towards few dominant crops (i.e. maize, rice and wheat) contributed in creating trajectories of socio-technological lock-ins and hindering the adoption of minor species and more diversified systems (Meynard et al. 2018; Roesch-McNally et al. 2018). In conclusion, the development of crop-specific research, breeding programmes, technologies and dedicated markets inevitably reduce the competitiveness and viability of alternative crops and farm management strategies, despite other potential benefits.

#### 4.2 Internal drivers and constraints

#### 4.2.1 Human capital

The human capital consists of characteristics of the farmers and their households. The main variables that we identified were the household head's age (HH age), farming experience, level of education, household size, hired and family labour, and share of non-working members in the household (dependency ratio) (Fig. 8a).

Household head's age was the most assessed variable within the human capital (n = 68). However, the findings are scattered and do not provide strong evidence about how farmers' age influence on-farm diversity (14 P, 16 N, 40 NS) (Fig. 8a). Similarly, we did not find enough evidence from the analysis of the effect of farming experience (6 P, 2 N, 10 NS). Some of the studies that identified a negative correlation between farmers' age and farm diversification explained that older farmers have more experience and consolidated farming strategies; thus, they might be more reluctant and less in need to test and adopt new crop species, animals or management strategies (Huang et al. 2014; Ali 2015; Fan et al. 2019). Older farmers may have less skills in using information technologies and, as a consequence, less access to updated knowledge and information (Fan et al. 2019). Young farmers are generally more flexible and open in adopting new species and technologies to take advantage of market opportunities (Nkomoki et al. 2018). The studies that found a positive relationship between household head's age



**Fig. 8** Number of assessments for selected internal drivers and constraints of on-farm diversification. The barplots show the ten variables with the highest number of assessments identified for each subcategory: (a) human capital, (b) physical capital, (c) economic and financial capital, (d) social capital. For each variable (y-axis), the

upper stack bar represents the total count of statistically significant effects reported on on-farm diversity [positive (green), negative (red) and significant non-directional (yellow)]; the lower bar (grey) represents the total count of not significant assessments.

and on-farm diversity provided different explanations. Older and more experienced farmers usually have more knowledge to manage farm diversity and awareness of its potential benefits (Kawa et al. 2015; Tesfaye and Tirivayi 2020). Experienced farmers may be more interested in preserving varieties with a traditional value (Eyssartier et al. 2011) and are more likely to have selected more species over the years than less experienced farmers (Kawa et al. 2015; Ng'Endo et al. 2015). Farmers tend to become more risk-averse when they age, so diversification can become the preferred option to reduce farming risks, as also explained in paragraph 4.1.2 (Abebe 2013; Tesfaye and Tirivayi 2020), while younger households might prefer to focus on fewer cash crops (Kawa et al. 2015) or more lucrative livelihood sources (Williams and Kramer 2019). Due to these contrasting results in the literature, some studies used scatter plots (Skarbø 2014) or added the squared term of household head age (HH  $age^2$ ) in the regression models (Herrera et al. 2018; Kankwamba et al. 2018) to assess the existence of a non-linear relationship between the age of the household head and on-farm diversity (Fig. 8a). Skarbø (2014) identified an inverted-Urelationship, with a turning point in correspondence to the age of 60. This trend, also found in Herrera et al. (2018), may indicate that farmers tend to increase on-farm diversity with the experience and age up to a certain point when eventually; they need to simplify and reduce the number of activities because of their decreasing labour efficiency. Kankwamba et al. (2018) found an opposite relationship (*U*-shaped), but in their regression model, the effect size of the squared term of household head age (HH age<sup>2</sup>) on crop diversification was negligible (<0.0% with p <0.1).

Education was another component of the human capital for which we identified ambiguous findings (8 P, 6 N, 31 NS) (Fig. 8a). Literate and more educated farmers generally have a better capacity to access information and awareness about different production options and their potential benefits, both in terms of income and nutrition (Pandey 2015; Fadina and Barjolle 2018; Fan et al. 2019). Still, the gradient of the effect of education on on-farm diversity seems to be also influenced by the local context (Nguyen et al. 2017). As emerged in Longpichai (2013), which studied a region in Thailand characterised by rubber monocultures, when farmers are used to grow monocultures or a few products, the lack of education may reduce their ability to manage additional activities. On the other hand, in areas where farms are highly diversified, more educated and skilled farmers may have a higher incentive in specialising on few commercial and lucrative crops, if economically convenient (Huang et al. 2014; Hitayezu et al. 2016; Kurdyś-Kujawska et al. 2018). Education was also assessed based on the different levels of schooling. For instance, literacy (1 P, 1 N, 5 NS), primary school (4 P), secondary and above (3 P, 1 N, 3 NS). According to some of these assessments, the positive effect of schooling on diversity decreases with a higher level of education (Herrera et al. 2018; Kankwamba et al. 2018; Mofya-Mukuka and Hichaambwa 2018). If, as mentioned above, more skilled farmers are more capable to manage diversified farms, when they reach a certain level of education, they may also decide to invest less time on farm diversification and prioritise alternative and more remunerative off-farm livelihood strategies.

Another group of variables analysed within the human capital is the number of household members (household size) and the labour availability (Family labour and Hired labour) (Fig. 8a). Household size was a driver of on-farm diversity 14 times, while 25 assessments could not identify a statistical evidence of this correlation (14 P, 25 NS). Large families have more people depending on the farm. Hence, they require more food production and diversity to ensure that the nutrition requirements are met, especially in the case of subsistence farming (Adjimoti et al. 2017; Aheibam and Singh 2017; Ochoa. M. et al. 2019). Furthermore, larger households usually have more agricultural labour force that provides the potential to manage a broader number of farm activities and therefore increasing diversity (Zampaligré et al. 2014; Nguyen et al. 2019; Daudu et al. 2019). Diversified farming systems can be more labour-intensive then specialised systems (e.g. different sowing and harvesting seasons) (Schroth and Ruf 2014; Casagrande et al. 2017). For instance, farmers in Thailand (Kasem and Thapa 2011) and Sri Lanka (Burchfield and Poterie 2018) indicated labour shortage as a major driver of rice monocultures (Kasem and Thapa 2011; Burchfield and Poterie 2018). However, the assessments of the effects of hired labour (3 P, 3 N, 17 NS) and family labour (5 P, 2 N, 16 NS) did not provide enough evidence about their influence on farm diversification strategies (Fig. 8a).

### 4.2.2 Physical capital

Physical capital includes all the physical assets that farmers employ in their agricultural activity. The most analysed variables involved farm characteristics (i.e. farm area, land fragmentation and distance), livestock ownership, irrigation facilities, fertilisers, seeds and other endowments (Fig. 8b).

Farm size was the variable with the highest number of assessments among all the publications analysed (n = 84).

A vast majority of the results showed a positive correlation between agricultural diversity and the farm area (46, 8 N and 30 NS). Nevertheless, to explain the characteristics of this relationship, also the studies that reported negative results, explored the existence of non-linear correlation (Skarbø 2014; Makate et al. 2016; Kankwamba et al. 2018) or the interaction effect with other variables (Pandey 2015; Weigel et al. 2018) are relevant. Generally, the potential for on-farm diversification is low if farms have limited space, especially in regions where the average farm size is particularly small (Huang et al. 2014; Bhatta et al. 2016; Makate et al. 2016). Bigger farms can expand their production diversity and spread the risk by growing a broader array of crops or livestock species, while smallholder farmers have limited possibilities to add or test new crops (Baul et al. 2013; Samberg et al. 2013). On the contrary, some studies showing a negative correlation between farm size and diversification argued that smallholders have a greater need to diversify to reduce risks and stabilise their income (Aheibam and Singh 2017). As a large land endowment, in some contexts, can be an indicator of wealth, bigger and wealthier farms may have more technologies and resources to specialise in commercial products and intensive farming (Adjimoti et al. 2017). These contrasting outcomes also emerged in studies that assessed the existence of a non-linear relationship between farm size and diversity (Skarbø 2014; Makate et al. 2016; Kankwamba et al. 2018). Their findings showed that on-farm diversity tended to increase together with farm size but only up to a certain point, specifically 0.7 ha in Skarbø (2014) in Ecuador and 1.5 ha in Kankwamba et al. (2018) in Malawi. This may suggest that farmers benefit from diversification until other factors like labour cost (Kasem and Thapa 2011) and economies of scale, make specialisation a more convenient strategy (Bowman and Zilberman 2013). Other studies, like Pandey (2015) in Nepal and Hitayezu et al. (2016) in South Africa, found that the magnitude and elasticity of the positive effect of farm size on diversity may also decrease with the increase of farmers wealth. Finally, Weigel et al. (2018) suggested that the positive correlation between farm size and diversity may be also policy driven, as in the case of the European Common Agricultural Policy, which introduced the requirement of a minimum of crop diversity threshold that increases with cropland area(farms between 10 and 30 ha, min two crops; farms > 30 ha, min 3 crops).

Another farmland characteristic assessed was the difference of diversity between consolidated and fragmented farms. Fragmentation, defined as the number of noncontiguous plots belonging to the same farm/household, resulted to drive diversification strategies (4 P, 2 NS). Spatially dispersed plots are likely to have different environmental characteristics (i.e. altitude and soil) and then not be suitable for the same type of cultivation or livestock (Di Falco et al. 2010b; Adjimoti et al. 2017; Ciaian et al. 2018). Moreover, the distance between plots can create logistic issues for transferring tools or machineries necessary for specific productions that might be too expensive or simply not suitable to be moved across different locations. Lastly, farmers might just prefer to use different plots for different products, as in the example of the home gardens. Home gardens usually presented a richer diversity then other farm plots, as they are also used to preserve plants with low- or even null-market price due to their religious and cultural value or to test new crops to transfer in larger plots if successful (Steward 2013; Pandey 2015).

Beyond size and fragmentation, land access and tenure security influence farmers' decision-making. The analysis of the correlation between land tenure and diversity found a prevalence of positive results (Fig. 8b). A major point is that without a legal title guaranteeing the security of land tenure, farmers are more likely to focus on annual crops and simplified cultivations with short-term returns. Farmers with a secure tenure have a higher incentive in adopting practices that preserve their land and can invest more in the inclusion of new species, and plan for mediumand long-term production, as in the case of tree species (Schroth and Ruf 2014; Segnon et al. 2015; Min et al. 2017). Two of the studies that reported a negative correlation between land titling and diversity, did not provide an explanation about the result, while the negative result in Asante et al. (2018) came from the analysis of livestock species diversity, in Ghana. The authors explained that farmers with land tenure certificates were more likely to focus on crops and instead of raising livestock (Asante et al. 2018).

The analysis of the relationship between livestock ownership and overall farm diversity showed some evidence of positive correlation (13P, 3 N, 15 NS). Livestock and crop production can be complementary activities. The animals can contribute through the production of manure and draught power, and benefits by eating crop residues (Di Falco et al. 2010a; Ciaian et al. 2018; Roesch-McNally et al. 2018). However, when livestock production becomes the main households' livelihood source, it may then lead to specialisation and lower levels of diversity (Skarbø 2014; Torres et al. 2018).

The access to irrigation facilities provides the farmers with the opportunity to plan more efficiently their production, extend the cropping season and the conditions to grow a broader array of crop and animal species (Aheibam and Singh 2017; Alemayehu et al. 2018; Lazíková et al. 2019). Irrigation was studied using indicators measuring the availability of water for irrigation or surface of irrigated land, which were coded as irrigation access (9 P, 3 NS) and share of irrigated land (3 N, 2 NS); the proximity with sources of water, coded as water access (3 P, 1 N, 2 NS); the ownership of irrigation tools, such as water pumps (3 N) and

agricultural wells (1 P); or the reliance on rain (2 P, 1 NS) (Fig. 8b). The majority of positive assessments confirms that the lack of access to water for irrigation can represent a relevant constraint for implementing and maintaining diversified farming systems, especially in contexts with irregular or scarce rainfall regimes (Longpichai 2013; Mandal and Bezbaruah 2013; Burchfield and Poterie 2018). Still, also in this case, the gradient of this relationship can be influenced by other factors, as informed by the negative results (Nguyen et al. 2017). The availability of irrigation facilities also reduces farming risks. Therefore, distinct from rainfed systems, reliable access to water may reduce the need of diversification and allow specialisation on high-value crops (Skarbø 2014; Nguyen et al. 2017, 2019).

Finally, we identified few studies analysing the implication of using/accessing agricultural inputs such as fertilisers (4 P, 2 N, 2NS) and high yielding/improved seed varieties (1P, 4 N, 4NS). Also in this case, the results were context specific. In areas characterised by low productivity, inputs like fertilisers increase the potential of cultivating a broader array of crops (Aheibam and Singh 2017; Asante et al. 2018). On the other hand, where diversification is used as a risks-response strategy, the access to fertilisers (Adjimoti et al. 2017) or high yielding (Asfaw et al. 2018) varieties may drive farmers to specialise on particular crops.

#### 4.2.3 Economic and financial capital

The economic and financial capital includes households' economic and financial opportunities and assets, such as sources of income, wealth, and access to market and credit (Fig. 8c). These variables are key components of farmers' decision-making because they allow (or limit) the adoption of different livelihood strategies, investments in farm improvements, and contribute to shape and satisfy farmers' objectives (Bowman and Zilberman 2013; Schroth and Ruf 2014; Bhatta et al. 2016).

Markets have a complex and conflicting influence on farmers' decisions and possibility to diversify. The indicators of farmers' access to markets, namely market distance (7 P, 3 N, 17 NS), market access (6 P, 4 NS), road distance (2 P, 3 N, 14 NS), road access (2 P, 7 N) and city distance (1 P, 3 NS), were the most studied variables within the economic capital category (Fig. 8c). The mixed results show that farmers react differently to markets depending on their characteristics, orientation (subsistence or market-oriented) and the local context. The presence and access to fresh food markets, for instance, arose as important drivers of crop diversification for vegetables and fruit farmers in studies conducted in different regions, such as the USA (Roesch-McNally et al. 2018; Lancaster and Torres 2019), France (Casagrande et al. 2017), India (Ali 2015) and Brazil (Valencia et al. 2019), as they diminish farmers' dependency from mainstream market channels and the requirements of products standardisation. Proximity to markets and roads, they reduce marketing and transaction costs. Also, road access simplify the connection with extension services, and hence trainings, inputs, seeds and new varieties (Gbedomon et al. 2017; Williams and Kramer 2019). This allows farmers, especially those with none or limited means of transport and storage facilities, to grow and sell a broader variety of products, including the more perishable ones (Makate et al. 2016; Torres et al. 2018).

Despite these arguments suggesting a positive relationship between market access and on-farm diversification strategies, other studies provided an opposite perspective. Farmers with means of transport, road access and a broader range of market options can access and choose better prices and conditions (Nguyen et al. 2017). Therefore, they are in a better position to maximise their income by specialising on high-value activities, and then purchasing food with the earnings (Abebe 2013). Subsistence farmers with poor connections to roads and markets, instead, may need to diversify more their production to reduce farming risks and satisfy their families' nutritional needs (Asante et al. 2018; Tesfave and Tirivayi 2020). Finally, it is essential to highlight the role of prices. Switching between different cultivations and farm activities requires skills, time, investments and effort. Therefore, the mere presence of markets is not sufficient to influence farmers' decisions if prices are not considered sufficiently convenient (Kasem and Thapa 2011; Williams and Kramer 2019).

The analysis of the role of the access to economic and financial resources through indicators like credit access (13 P, 8 N, 13 NS), wealth (6 P, 2 N, 13 NS) and income (2 P, 3 N, 4 NS) returned again conflicting results (Fig. 8c). The lack of the sufficient economic and financial resources to implement and maintain a diversified agricultural production is often studied as another potential limitation by agricultural producers (Iles and Marsh 2012; Bowman and Zilberman 2013; Schroth and Ruf 2014). Farmers require capital to undertake farm improvements and add new activities (i.e. equipment, new crops, trees and livestock breeds). Reliable access to credit provides more flexibility in land allocation decisions and in increasing farm production mix. This allows farmers to have enough resources and time for the investment to pay off (Mandal and Bezbaruah 2013; Nguyen et al. 2017; Asante et al. 2018). For instance, agroforestry systems often require substantial initial costs to plant and preserve the new trees and crop species, and time before they become profitable. Therefore, the lack of financial capital is likely to discourage their adoption (Aneani et al. 2011; Schroth and Ruf 2014). The evidence about a positive association between wealth, income and on-farm diversification seems to support that wealthier farmers have a higher ability to absorb these investments and the eventual consequences of losses from a potential failure of the new activities (Longpichai 2013; McCord et al. 2015). On the other hand, farmers with less economic resources and credit access may diversify more to cope with potential risks and provide their family subsistence. Ultimately, the sign of this correlation may differ between different income groups, as shown in Weigel et al. (2018), where farmers with an average whole-farm revenue per hectare were the most diversified if compared with farms with low and high whole-farm revenue per hectare.

#### 4.2.4 Social capital

Social capital includes farmers' gender, cultural values, involvement in the communities, access to information and social networks (Fig. 8d).

The influence of household head's gender on on-farm diversity level was the variable most often analysed (n=47) within the social capital. The results were mixed (Fig. 8d). All the studies that identified a significant effect were conducted in low- and lower-middle-income counties. Ten assessments reported that female-headed farms were more diversified than male-headed ones. This was mostly associated with women's role in the household and in the community. Often in charge of preparing food, women can be more risk-averse than men (Nguyen et al. 2017; Asfaw et al. 2018; Kankwamba et al. 2018), more concerned with providing the family with diversified nutrition (Zawedde et al. 2014; Adjimoti et al. 2017) and growing nutritious crops, such as pulses or vegetables, sometimes considered "women's crops" (Mofya-Mukuka and Hichaambwa 2018). Moreover, one study conducted in the Brazilian Amazon emphasised the central role of women in the seed exchange networks of their communities (Díaz-Reviriego et al. 2016). In contrast, nine assessments reported a higher on-farm diversity level in male-headed households. This was attributed to the better access to information, technologies and production resources, which males may have because of social customs and traditions (Tun Oo et al. 2017; Asante et al. 2018).

Farmers' groups, such as cooperatives and associations, can be vehicles of knowledge and information (Kasem and Thapa 2011; Jacobi 2016), planting material and technologies, and also improve market access with more competitive prices (Alemayehu et al. 2018; Nkomoki et al. 2018). The membership in farmers' organisations was assessed 21 times (8 P, 2 N, 11 NS) (Fig. 8d). Farmers that are member of this organisations and with an active network of social relationship have in general a better access to market and resources to manage of diversified faming systems (Samberg et al. 2013; Schroth and Ruf 2014; Herrera et al. 2018; Valencia et al. 2019). However, the studies that reported a negative effect showed that cooperatives may also discourage farm diversification and drive specialisation when they only target

**Fig. 9** Number of assessements for selected livelihood strategies that drive or constrain on-farm diversification. The barplot show the ten variables with the highest number of assessments. For each variable (*y*-axis), the upper stack bar represents the total count of statistically significant effects reported on onfarm diversity [Positive (green), Negative (red)]; the lower bar (grey) represents the total count of Not Significant assessments.



and promote one or a specific group of crops or farm products (Nguyen et al. 2017; Saenz and Thompson 2017).

Another meaningful component of social capital consists in the farmers' social networks and access to information. Information about market prices and opportunities, new technologies, crop varieties and climate conditions may reduce farming risks, and therefore can affect farmers' decision-making substantially. There are different channels to access information that span from the information exchange between farmers (Casagrande et al. 2017) to the institutional channels like local government, extension workers and information and communications technologies (Nguyen et al. 2017; Senger et al. 2017; Asfaw et al. 2018). The results showed that, in general, better access to information corresponded to higher diversification (12 P, 4 N, 8 NS). For instance, access to market information allow farmers to plan and diversify their production to meet consumers' demand and respond to prices changes (Makate et al. 2016; Alemayehu et al. 2018; Asante et al. 2018). Prompt and reliable information about weather and climate can support the selection of an appropriate cultivation mix (Tun Oo et al. 2017; Saenz and Thompson 2017). Nevertheless, it is also true that reliable information about market and climate change reduces risks, hence informed farmers may also choose to only focus on few crops or activities that are highly demanded and suitable for the expected conditions (Gunathilaka et al. 2018).

Traditional knowledge and cultural values preserved in communities or ethnic groups represent a fundamental component of social capital, especially in rural areas. Cultural identity has often been assessed using categorical variables, comparing differences in the extent of farm diversity between farmers belonging to different ethnicity (9 S, 5 NS), communities (2 S), socio-political context (2 S), neighbouring groups (1 S) and clans (1 S) (Fig. 8d). Most of the assessments involving this group of variables captured a statistically significant association with diversification. Farmers' ethnicity and cultural values are strongly reflected through the species richness and composition of their farms (Labeyrie et al. 2014; Díaz-Reviriego et al. 2016). This relationship has proven to be particularly relevant for indigenous communities or areas where cultural identity is still strongly rooted as they generally showed a higher extent of diversification (Williams 2016; Torres et al. 2018). In such contexts, agriculture is considered a cultural component itself, through the maintenance of traditional management practices and plants for food, medicine, rituals and aesthetic value (Samberg et al. 2013; Skarbø 2014; Torres et al. 2018). These practices are important for the conservation of landraces and underutilised species that due to the market pressure have lost their economic and commercial value (Skarbø 2014; Pandey 2015; Díaz-Reviriego et al. 2016).

Finally, the involvement of the family in the farming activity may guide farmers' decision to diversify. Valliant et al. (2017) interviewed farmers in the east of the U.S. Corn Belt to investigate the role played by their future expectation on the motivations to diversify their farms. Their findings showed that families willing to create future opportunities of employment in the farm for their descendants presented a higher level of diversity. Similar conclusions were found by Senger et al. (2017) in a study conducted in Brazil.

#### 4.3 Other livelihood strategies

On-farm diversification is only one of the possible livelihood strategies that farmers can adopt to maximise their utility (Di Falco 2012; Bowman and Zilberman 2013). The possibility to adopt on-farm diversification strategies results from external and internal capitals (Scoones 1998; Ellis 2000), but it is also influenced by other livelihood strategies currently or

previously adopted that can be complementary or alternative to diversification (Ellis and Freeman 2005).

The studies assessing the effect of off-farm income on the level of on-farm diversity showed some evidence that they often work as alternative livelihood strategies (3 P, 12 N, 17 NS) (Fig. 9). Off-farm employment is an important source of income, and reduces rural poverty (De Janvry and Sadoulet 2001; Barrett et al. 2001). On-farm diversification is time- and labour-intensive, as it involves the management different crop or livestock species (i.e. different sowing and harvesting seasons), while monocultures or simplified farming systems instead are more suitable to standardised and mechanised processes (Burchfield and Poterie 2018; Roesch-McNally et al. 2018). Households earning part of their income from external activities have less time to dedicate to the farm than full-time farmers, and hence may tend to simplify their farms and reduce number of farming activities (Hitayezu et al. 2016; Adjimoti et al. 2017; Kundu and Chattopadhyay 2018; Lancaster and Torres 2019). Therefore, the availability of off-farm work alternatives increases the opportunity-cost of managing diverse agricultural systems (Hitayezu et al. 2016; Adjimoti et al. 2017; Alemayehu et al. 2018). The prevalence of negative correlation was consistent across different regions (Hitayezu et al. 2016; Min et al. 2017; Alemayehu et al. 2018; Lancaster and Torres 2019; Ochoa. M. et al. 2019). The studies reporting off-farm income as a driver did not provide detailed explanation for this result, besides the financial opportunity to re-invest the external income in new on-farm activities (Abebe et al. 2013; Asante et al. 2018; Herrera et al. 2018). The analysis of the effect of migration and remittances also showed a negative correlation with farm diversification; nevertheless, only two studies found a statistically significant relationship (Nguyen et al. 2017, 2019).

The remaining livelihood strategies showed in Fig. 9 are crop sales (3P) (Kankwamba et al. 2018) and the share of forest land in the farms and the engagement in forest activities (1 P, 3 N, 3 NS), while we did not identify any further livelihood strategies with more than three assessments (Tacconi et al. 2021). The studies assessing the role of the engagement in forest activities showed that its effect on diversification may depend on the use that farmers make of their forested areas. For instance, Abebe et al. (2013) found that increasing the area of managed woodlots would increase species richness but decreased the species evenness when farmers focused on increasing density of specific tree species for commercial values. Torres et al. (2018) showed that despite the level of crop species evenness of farms based on forest activities was lower than in those mostly focused on crops, it was still higher than in farms relying on livestock or off-farm activities.

### **5** Discussion and limitations

The purpose of this review was to provide an overview of how on-farm diversity is defined and measured in the recent peer-reviewed literature and of its drivers and constraints in different farming systems and regions.

Overall, our results show that the decision to maintain or increase on-farm diversity is commonly embedded in strategies to cope with environmental features and risks and influenced by market characteristics and access (Di Falco et al. 2010a; Longpichai 2013; Nguyen et al. 2017; Asfaw et al. 2018). Additionally, access to information, social connections, cultural values and ethnicity emerged as significant factors for the maintenance and use of diversity. In particular, communities where cultural ties and traditional knowledge are still strongly rooted showed to be important in preserving diversity, especially of landraces and underutilised species (Velásquez-Milla et al. 2011; Segnon et al. 2015). Still, drivers and constraints of diversification appeared highly context- and farm-dependent, with several variables working as drivers or constraints across different studies. For instance, altitude was a driver of diversification in seven assessments (Nguyen et al. 2017; Tesfaye and Tirivayi 2020), a constraints in five (Abebe 2013; Samberg et al. 2013) and neutral in seven (Gunathilaka et al. 2018). The age of the household head was found to have a positive effect on diversification in 14 analyses, a negative effect in 16 (Eyssartier et al. 2011; Kawa et al. 2015) and neutral in forty (Asante et al. 2018; Mofya-Mukuka and Hichaambwa 2018).

We can identify some patterns across the studies analysed. Small subsistence-oriented farms tend to adopt onfarm diversification strategies mostly to cope with environmental characteristics and risks and satisfy their subsistence needs (Nguyen et al. 2017; Asfaw et al. 2018). However, the adoption of diversification strategies is influenced by farmers' possibilities and objectives, depending on production and demand dynamics. When small farms practice subsistence or semi-subsistence agriculture and face production limitations, they may aim to increase on-farm diversification, given their internal capital endowment (Adjimoti et al. 2017; Tesfaye and Tirivayi 2020). Therefore, at this stage, the variables reducing production constraints are likely to drive on-farm diversification.

Furthermore, farmers may shift their orientation towards specialisation strategies once the comparative advantage generated by market demand and opportunities, financial capital, technologies and the availability of alternative sources of income displace diversification benefits and its natural insurance effect. This shift seems to be identified and explained by the inverted-*U* relationships that emerged between on-farm diversification and some of the variables analysed, for instance land size (Skarbø 2014; Makate et al. 2016) or education (Herrera et al. 2018; Kankwamba et al. 2018; Mofya-Mukuka and Hichaambwa 2018). In this regard, studies comparing differences between and within groups of farms with different characteristics and exploring the potential existence of non-linear correlation between on-farm diversity and the variables analysed provided a more accurate understanding of these dynamics (Skarbø 2014; Bhatta et al. 2016; Nguyen et al. 2017).

Studies conducted in Europe and the USA suggested that on-farm diversification has the potential to represent an additional option to specialisation, also in these regions. The transition towards diversified systems seems to be highly affected by markets structure, previous production choices and trajectories of the agricultural systems (Bowman and Zilberman 2013; Roesch-McNally et al. 2018). In particular, the availability of knowledge and technologies for farm diversification (Casagrande et al. 2017; Meynard et al. 2018) and the access to different market alternatives such as fresh food markets (Iles and Marsh 2012; Borremans et al. 2018; Lancaster and Torres 2019), emerged as crucial features to stimulate the implementation and maintenance of on-farm diversity.

These results summarise the findings of a range of systematically selected peer-reviewed studies published in the last decade, and intend to add to previous reviews about farm diversification that focused on the use of different definitions found in the literature (Hufnagel et al. 2020), specific type of diversity and regions, such as agroforestry systems in the tropics (Schroth and Ruf 2014) or on the socio-ecological benefits and trade-off of the adoption of this farming strategy (Kremen et al. 2012; Beillouin et al. 2019; Rosa-Schleich et al. 2019; Tamburini et al. 2020).

There is a range of limitations to consider when interpreting the results of this review. Firstly, they are drawn based on our systematic literature search that provided an imbalance between country regions with a higher concentration of studies in Africa, Asia and South America and in lower middleincome countries that did not allow us to make generalised statements and comparisons between regions. Second, due to our choice of limiting the literature search to peer-reviewed journal, it is important to consider that more knowledge is available in grey literature, in the form of national dataset and technical reports, and that could be used for further research. Finally, another limitation is represented by the high "diversity" of definitions of agricultural diversification utilised in agricultural research, as also explained in Hufnagel et al. (2020) for crop diversification. This might have led to the exclusion of some potentially relevant studies from the total results of our literature search. Taking all these limitations into account, our results are indicative of the wide range of drivers and constraints across settings, rather than representative of all drivers and constraints.

They nevertheless provide the most comprehensive account to date of the factors that influence on-farm diversification globally.

# 6 Conclusions

This study was the first systematic review focussing on identifying, summarising and discussing the results from recent scientific literature about farm-scale drivers and constraints of on-farm diversification. Our analysis of the drivers and constraints showed mixed results, with several variables acting as drivers or constraints of on-farm diversification depending on the context or the characteristics of the farm. Given their internal capital endowment, subsistence and semi-subsistence farmers tend to diversify their production to cope with environmental and market characteristics and risks and satisfy their subsistence needs. In this context, communities with a strong cultural identity are particularly important in preserving diversity, especially of landraces and underutilised species. The results suggest a shift towards specialisation strategies if market demand and opportunities, access to capital, technologies or alternative income sources generate a comparative advantage that displaces the benefits from diversification. In higher income countries, the access to knowledge and technologies for diversification and to alternative market options emerged as key drivers of on-farm diversification.

These conclusions are far from the final word on drivers and constraints of diversification, being drawn from a limited selection of peer-reviewed studies conducted from different regions and analysing samples with different characteristics, size and objectives. Further research exploring the existence of non-linear patterns between on-farm diversification strategies and potential drivers/constraint and how these patterns change depending on the farm typologies analysed is needed to identify and quantify when, where and under what conditions the shift from diversification to specialisation takes place. Finally, to promote and enhance on-farm diversification where it is a useful strategy, we suggest policymakers and researchers should further explore mechanisms and incentives that produce farm-level benefits, are suitable for the local contexts and, carefully consider farmers' objectives and the opportunity-cost of alternative livelihood strategies.

Authors' contributions All authors contributed to the study conception and design. Paper search and selection, data collection and analysis were performed by FT. The first draft of the manuscript and the following versions were written by FT and commented and critically revised by all the authors. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding This study was supported by ACIAR-funded research project "South East Asian livestock futures: what role for smallholders?", project number LS/2018/107, and FT's PhD Scholarship funded by the University of Tasmania (UTAS) and the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO).

**Data availability** The datasets generated and/or analysed during the current study are available in the Figshare repository, https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.14151659.v2

#### Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors declare no competing interests.

Ethics approval Not applicable.

Consent to participate Not applicable.

Consent for publication Not applicable.

# References

- Abebe T (2013) Determinants of crop diversity and composition in enset-coffee agroforestry homegardens of southern Ethiopia. J Agric Rural Dev Trop Subtrop 114:29–38
- Abebe T, Sterck FJ, Wiersum KF, Bongers F (2013) Diversity, composition and density of trees and shrubs in agroforestry homegardens in Southern Ethiopia. Agrofor Syst 87:1283–1293. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10457-013-9637-6
- Aditya KS, Subash SP, Praveen KV et al (2017) Awareness about Minimum support price and its impact on diversification decision of farmers in India. Asia Pacific Policy Stud 4:514–526. https://doi. org/10.1002/app5.197
- Adjimoti GO, Kwadzo GTM, Sarpong DB, Onumah EE (2017) Input policies and crop diversification: evidence from the collines region in Benin. African Dev Rev 29:512–523. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/1467-8268.12286
- Aheibam M, Singh R (2017) Measuring the intensity of factors accelerating crop diversification using Heckman two stage model : a micro level study in Thoubal District of Manipur. Indian J Agric Econ 72:
- Alemayehu M, Beuving J, Ruben R (2018) Risk preferences and farmers' livelihood strategies: a case study from Eastern Ethiopia. J Int Dev 30:1369–1391. https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.3341
- Ali J (2015) Adoption of Diversification for risk management in vegetable cultivation. Int J Veg Sci 21:9–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 19315260.2013.813891
- Aneani F, Anchirinah VM, Owusu-Ansah F, Asamoah M (2011) An analysis of the extent and determinants of crop diversification by cocoa (*Theobroma cacao*) farmers in Ghana. African J Agric Res 6:4277–4287. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJAR10.1083
- Asante BO, Villano RA, Patrick IW, Battese GE (2018) Determinants of farm diversification in integrated crop-livestock farming systems in Ghana. Renew Agric Food Syst 33:131–149. https://doi. org/10.1017/S1742170516000545
- Asfaw S, Pallante G, Palma A (2018) Diversification strategies and adaptation deficit: evidence from rural communities in Niger. World Dev 101:219–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev. 2017.09.004
- Asravor RK (2019) Farmers' risk preference and the adoption of risk management strategies in Northern Ghana. J Environ Plan Manag 62:881–900. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640568.2018.1452724
- Barrett C, Reardon T, Webb P (2001) Nonfarm income diversification and household livelihood strategies in rural Africa: concepts,

dynamics, and policy implications. Food Policy 26:315–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-9192(01)00014-8

- Baul TK, Tiwari KR, Atique Ullah KM, McDonald MA (2013) Exploring agrobiodiversity on farm: a case from middle-hills of Nepal. Small-Scale for 12:611–629. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11842-012-9234-y
- Beillouin D, Ben-ari T (2019) A dataset of meta-analyses on crop diversification at the global scale. Data Br 24:103898. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2019.103898
- Beillouin D, Ben-Ari T, Makowski D (2019) Evidence map of crop diversification strategies at the global scale. Environ Res Lett 14:. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab4449
- Bellon MR, Kotu BH, Azzarri C, Caracciolo F (2020) To diversify or not to diversify that is the question Pursuing agricultural development for smallholder farmers in marginal areas of Ghana. World Dev 125:104682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.104682
- Benton TG, Bailey R (2019) The paradox of productivity: agricultural productivity promotes food system inefficiency. Glob Sustain 2:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1017/sus.2019.3
- Bezabih M, Sarr M (2012) Risk preferences and environmental uncertainty : implications for crop diversification decisions in Ethiopia. Environ Resour Econ 483–505. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10640-012-9573-3
- Bhatta GD, Aggarwal PK, Shrivastava AK, Sproule L (2016) Is rainfall gradient a factor of livelihood diversification? Empirical evidence from around climatic hotspots in Indo-Gangetic Plains. Environ Dev Sustain 18:1657–1678. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10668-015-9710-6
- Bioversity International (2019) Agrobiodiversity index report 2019: risk and resilience. Italy, Rome
- Blesh J, Wittman H (2015) "Brasilience:" assessing resilience in land reform settlements in the Brazilian Cerrado. Hum Ecol 43:531– 546. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745-015-9770-0
- Borremans L, Marchand F, Visser M, Wauters E (2018) Nurturing agroforestry systems in Flanders: analysis from an agricultural innovation systems perspective. Agric Syst 162:205–219. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2018.01.004
- Bowman MS, Zilberman D (2013) Economic factors affecting diversified farming systems. Ecol Soc 18:. https://doi.org/10.5751/ ES-05574-180133
- Burchfield EK, de la Poterie AT (2018) Determinants of crop diversification in rice-dominated Sri Lankan agricultural systems. J Rural Stud 61:206–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2018.05.010
- Casagrande M, Alletto L, Naudin C, et al (2017) Enhancing planned and associated biodiversity in French farming systems. Agron Sustain Dev 37:. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-017-0463-5
- Chavas JP, Di Falco S (2012) On the role of risk versus economies of scope in farm diversification with an application to ethiopian farms. J Agric Econ 63:25–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-9552.2011.00319.x
- Chhatre A, Devalkar S, Seshadri S (2016) Crop diversification and risk management in Indian agriculture. Decision 43:167–179. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40622-016-0129-1
- Ciaian P, Guri F, Rajcaniova M et al (2018) Land fragmentation and production diversification: a case study from rural Albania. Land Use Policy 76:589–599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landu sepol.2018.02.039
- Darnhofer I (2014) Resilience and why it matters for farm management. Eur Rev of Agricultural Econ 41:461–484. https://doi. org/10.1093/erae/jbu012
- Daudu AK, Oladipo FO, Olatinwo LK et al (2019) Differences in food crop diversification between male and female smallholder farmers in Kwara State. Nigeria J Agric Ext 23:1. https://doi. org/10.4314/jae.v23i4.1

- De Janvry A, Sadoulet E (2001) Income strategies among rural households in Mexico : The Role of Off-farm Activities. World Dev 29:467–480
- Di Falco S (2012) On the value of agricultural biodiversity. Annu Rev Resour Econ 4:207–223. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevresource-110811-114543
- Di Falco S, Bezabih M, Yesuf M (2010a) Seeds for livelihood: crop biodiversity and food production in Ethiopia. Ecol Econ 69:1695–1702. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2010.03.024
- Di Falco S, Penov I, Aleksiev A, van Rensburg TM (2010b) Agrobiodiversity, farm profits and land fragmentation: evidence from Bulgaria. Land Use Policy 27:763–771. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.landusepol.2009.10.007
- Di Falco S, Perrings C (2003) Crop genetic diversity, productivity and stability of agroecosystems. a theoretical and empirical investigation. Scott J Polit Econ 50:207–216. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/1467-9485.5002006
- Díaz-Reviriego I, González-Segura L, Fernández-Llamazares Á, et al (2016) Social organization influences the exchange and species richness of medicinal plants in amazonian homegardens. Ecol Soc 21:. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-07944-210101
- Ellis F (2000) The determinants of rural livelihood diversification in developing countries. J Agric Econ 51:289–302. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1477-9552.2000.tb01229.x
- Ellis F, Freeman HA (2005) Conceptual framework and overview of themes. In: Ellis F, Freeman HA (eds) Rural livelihoods and poverty reduction policies. Routledge, London, pp 2–13
- Eyssartier C, Ladio AH, Lozada M (2011) Traditional horticultural knowledge change in a rural population of the Patagonian steppe. J Arid Environ 75:78–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaridenv.2010.09.006
- Fadina AMR, Barjolle D (2018) Farmers' adaptation strategies to climate change and their implications in the Zou Department of South Benin. Environments 5:15. https://doi.org/10.3390/environments5010015
- Fan L, Dang X, Tong Y, Li R (2019) Functions, motives and barriers of homestead vegetable production in rural areas in ageing China. J Rural Stud 67:12–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurs tud.2019.02.007
- FAO (2019) The State of the World's Biodiversity for Food and Agriculture. FAO Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture Assessments, Rome
- Gaba S, Lescourret F, Boudsocq S et al (2015) Multiple cropping systems as drivers for providing multiple ecosystem services: from concepts to design. Agron Sustain Dev 35:607–623. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-014-0272-z
- Garibaldi LA, Carvalheiro LG, Leonhardt SD et al (2014) From research to action: enhancing crop yield through wild pollinators. Front Ecol Environ 12:439–447. https://doi.org/10.1890/ 130330
- Gbedomon RC, Salako VK, Fandohan AB et al (2017) Functional diversity of home gardens and their agrobiodiversity conservation benefits in Benin, West Africa. J Ethnobiol Ethnomed 13:1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13002-017-0192-5
- Gunathilaka RPD, Smart JCR, Fleming CM (2018) Adaptation to climate change in perennial cropping systems: options, barriers and policy implications. Environ Sci Policy 82:108–116. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.01.011
- Herrera GP, Lourival R, da Costa RB et al (2018) Econometric analysis of income, productivity and diversification among smallholders in Brazil. Land Use Policy 76:455–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. landusepol.2018.02.025
- Herrero M, Jones P, Karanja S, et al (2013) Potential impact of climate change on resilience and livelihoods in mixed crop-livestock systems in East Africa. Washington DC, USA

- Herrero M, Thornton PK, Power B et al (2017) Farming and the geography of nutrient production for human use: a transdisciplinary analysis. Lancet Planet Heal 1:e33–e42. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2542-5196(17)30007-4
- Hitayezu P, Zegeye EW, Ortmann GF (2016) Farm-level crop diversification in the Midlands region of Kwazulu-Natal, South Africa: patterns, microeconomic drivers, and policy implications. Agroecol Sustain Food Syst 40:553–582. https://doi.org/10.1080/21683 565.2016.1156595
- HLPE (2019) Agroecological and other innovative approaches for sustainable agriculture and food systems that enhance food security and nutrition. A report by the High Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition of the Committee on World Food Security. High Lev Panel Expert Food Secur Nutr 1–162
- Huang JK, Jiang J, Wang JX, Hou LL (2014) Crop diversification in coping with extreme weather events in China. J Integr Agric 13:677–686. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(13)60700-5
- Hufnagel J, Reckling M, Ewert F (2020) Diverse approaches to crop diversification in agricultural research. A Review Agron Sustain Dev 40:14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-020-00617-4
- Iles A, Marsh R (2012) Nurturing diversified farming systems in industrialized countries : how public policy can contribute. Ecol Soc 17:
- Jacobi J (2016) Agroforestry in Bolivia : opportunities and challenges in the context of food sovereignty. Environ Conserv 43:307–316. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892916000138
- Jacobi J, Andres C, Schneider M et al (2014) Carbon stocks, tree diversity, and the role of organic certification in different cocoa production systems in Alto Beni, Bolivia. Agrofor Syst 88:1117– 1132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-013-9643-8
- Jones AD (2017) Critical review of the emerging research evidence on agricultural biodiversity, diet diversity, and nutritional status in low- and middle-income countries. Nutr Rev 75:769–782. https:// doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nux040
- Kankwamba H, Kadzamira M, Pauw K (2018) How diversified is cropping in Malawi? Patterns, determinants and policy implications. Food Secur 10:323–338. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12571-018-0771-x
- Kasem S, Thapa GB (2011) Crop diversification in Thailand: status, determinants, and effects on income and use of inputs. Land Use Policy 28:618–628. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2010. 12.001
- Katwal T, Dorji S, Dorji R et al (2015) Community perspectives on the on-farm diversity of six major cereals and climate change in Bhutan. Agriculture 5:2–16. https://doi.org/10.3390/agricultur e5010002
- Kawa NC, Clavijo Michelangeli JA, Clement CR (2015) Household agrobiodiversity management on Amazonian dark earths, oxisols, and floodplain soils on the Lower Madeira River, Brazil. Hum Ecol 43:339–353. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745-015-9738-0
- Khoury CK, Bjorkman AD, Dempewolf H et al (2014) Increasing homogeneity in global food supplies and the implications for food security. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:4001–4006. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1313490111
- Komarek AM, De Pinto A, Smith VH (2020) A review of types of risks in agriculture: what we know and what we need to know. Agric Syst 178:102738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2019.102738
- Kremen C, Iles A, Bacon C (2012) Diversified farming systems: an agroecological, systems-based alternative to modern industrial agriculture. Ecol Soc 17:. https://doi.org/10.5751/ es-05103-170444
- Kremen C, Miles A (2012) Ecosystem services in biologically diversified versus conventional farming systems: benefits, externalities, and trade-offs. ecol Soc 17:. https://doi.org/10.5751/ ES-05035-170440

- Kundu RK, Chattopadhyay AK (2018) Spatio-temporal variations of crop diversification. IIII:
- Kurdyś-Kujawska A, Zawadzka D, Sompolska-Rzechuła A (2018) The probability of farm's diversification – on the example of central Pomerania in Poland. Bulg J Agric Sci 24:171–179
- Labeyrie V, Rono B, Leclerc C (2014) How social organization shapes crop diversity: an ecological anthropology approach among Tharaka farmers of Mount Kenya. Agric Human Values 31:97– 107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-013-9451-9
- Lancaster NA, Torres AP (2019) Investigating the drivers of farm diversification among U.S. fruit and vegetable operations. Sustain 11:1–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10023380
- Lazíková J, Bandlerová A, Rumanovská L, et al (2019) Crop diversity and common agricultural policy-the case of Slovakia. Sustain 11:. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11051416
- Longpichai O (2013) Determinants of adoption of crop diversification by smallholder rubber producers in Southern Thailand: implications on natural resource conservation. Kasetsart J - Soc Sci 34:370–382
- Makate C, Wang R, Makate M, Mango N (2016) Crop diversification and livelihoods of smallholder farmers in Zimbabwe: adaptive management for environmental change. Springerplus 5:. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-2802-4
- Mandal R, Bezbaruah MP (2013) Diversification of cropping pattern: its determinants and role in flood affected agriculture of assam plains. Indian J Agric Econ 68:169–181
- Manning P, Van Der Plas F, Soliveres S, et al (2018) Redefining ecosystem multifunctionality. Nat Ecol Evol 2:427–436. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41559-017-0461-7
- Markowitz HM (1959) Portfolio selection: efficient diversification of investment. New York
- Markussen T, Tarp F, Van Den Broeck K (2011) The forgotten property rights: evidence on land use rights in Vietnam. World Dev 39:839–850. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev. 2010.09.016
- McCord PF, Cox M, Schmitt-Harsh M, Evans T (2015) Crop diversification as a smallholder livelihood strategy within semiarid agricultural systems near Mount Kenya. Land Use Policy 42:738–750. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2014.10.012
- McDaniel MD, Tiemann LK, Grandy AS (2014) Does agricultural crop diversity enhance soil microbial biomass and organic matter dynamics? A meta-analysis. Ecol Appl 24:560–570. https://doi. org/10.1890/13-0616.1
- McIntire J, Bourzat D, Pingali P (1992) Crop livestock interaction in Sub-Saharan Africa. World Bank, Washington DC, USA
- Meynard JM, Charrier F, Fares M, et al (2018) Socio-technical lock-in hinders crop diversification in France. Agron Sustain Dev 38:. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-018-0535-1
- Min S, Huang J, Waibel H (2017) Rubber specialization vs crop diversification: the roles of perceived risks. China Agric Econ Rev 9:188–210. https://doi.org/10.1108/CAER-07-2016-0097
- Mofya-Mukuka R, Hichaambwa M (2018) Livelihood effects of crop diversification: a panel data analysis of rural farm households in Zambia. Food Secur 10:1449–1462. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12571-018-0872-6
- Mueller L, Schindler U, Shepherd TG, et al (2012) A framework for assessing agricultural soil quality on a global scale. Arch Agron Soil Sci 58:. https://doi.org/10.1080/03650340.2012.692877
- Nastis SA, Michailidis A, Mattas K (2013) Crop biodiversity repercussions of subsidized organic farming. Land Use Policy 32:23–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2012.09.012
- Ng'Endo M, Keding GB, Bhagwat S, Kehlenbeck K (2015) Variability of on-farm food plant diversity and its contribution to food security: a case study of smallholder farming households in western Kenya. Agroecol Sustain Food Syst 39:1071–1103. https://doi. org/10.1080/21683565.2015.1073206

- Nguyen DL, Grote U, Nguyen TT (2019) Migration, crop production and non-farm labor diversification in rural Vietnam. Econ Anal Policy 63:175–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eap.2019.06.003
- Nguyen TT, Nguyen LD, Lippe RS, Grote U (2017) Determinants of farmers' land use decision-making: comparative evidence from Thailand and Vietnam. World Dev 89:199–213. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.worlddev.2016.08.010
- Nkomoki W, Bavorová M, Banout J (2018) Adoption of sustainable agricultural practices and food security threats: effects of land tenure in Zambia. Land Use Policy 78:532–538. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.07.021
- Ochoa MWS, Härtl FH, Paul C, Knoke T (2019) Cropping systems are homogenized by off-farm income – empirical evidence from small-scale farming systems in dry forests of southern Ecuador. Land Use Policy 82:204–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landu sepol.2018.11.025
- Pandey S (2015) Factors affecting crop diversity in farmers' fields in Nepal. Renew Agric Food Syst 30:202–209. https://doi.org/10. 1017/S1742170513000367
- Pingali PL (2012) Green Revolution: impacts, limits, and the path ahead. PNAS 109:12302–12308. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 0912953109
- Ramankutty N, Mehrabi Z, Waha K et al (2018) Trends in global agricultural land use : implications for environmental health and food security. Annu Rev Plant Biol 69:789–815. https://doi.org/10. 1146/annurev-arplant-042817-040256
- Rayol BP, Do Vale I, Miranda IS (2019) Tree and palm diversity in homegardens in the Central Amazon. Agrofor Syst 93:515–529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-017-0144-z
- Remans R, Wood SA, Saha N et al (2014) Measuring nutritional diversity of national food supplies. Glob Food Sec 3:174–182. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2014.07.001
- Renard D, Bennett EM, Rhemtulla JM (2016) Agro-biodiversity has increased over a 95 year period at sub-regional and regional scales in southern Quebec, Canada. Environ Res Lett 11:. https:// doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/11/12/124024
- Renard D, Tilman D (2019) National food production stabilized by crop diversity. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1316-y
- Roesch-McNally GE, Arbuckle JG, Tyndall JC (2018) Barriers to implementing climate resilient agricultural strategies: the case of crop diversification in the U.S. Corn Belt Glob Environ Chang 48:206–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.12.002
- Rosa-Schleich J, Loos J, Mußhoff O, Tscharntke T (2019) Ecologicaleconomic trade-offs of diversified farming systems – a review. Ecol Econ 160:251–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon. 2019.03.002
- Saenz M, Thompson E (2017) Gender and policy roles in farm household diversification in Zambia. World Dev 89:152–169. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2016.08.007
- Samberg LH, Shennan C, Zavaleta E (2013) Farmer seed exchange and crop diversity in a changing agricultural landscape in the southern highlands of Ethiopia. Hum Ecol 41:477–485. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10745-013-9579-7
- Samberg LH, Shennan C, Zavaleta ES (2010) Human and environmental factors affect patterns of crop diversity in an Ethiopian highland agroecosystem. Prof Geogr 62:395–408. https://doi. org/10.1080/00330124.2010.483641
- Sander L, Vandebroek I (2016) Small-scale farmers as stewards of useful plant diversity: a case study in Portland Parish, Jamaica. Econ Bot 70:303–319. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12231-016-9354-y
- Schroth G, Ruf F (2014) Farmer strategies for tree crop diversification in the humid tropics. A Review Agron Sustain Dev 34:139–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-013-0175-4

- Scoones I (1998) Sustainable rural livelihoods a framework for analysis. SLP Work Pap 72:1–22. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave. development.1110037
- Segnon AC, Achigan-Dako EG, Gaoue OG, Ahanchédé A (2015) Farmer's knowledge and perception of diversified farming systems in sub-humid and semi-arid areas in Benin. Sustain 7:6573– 6592. https://doi.org/10.3390/su7066573
- Senger I, Borges JAR, Machado JAD (2017) Using the theory of planned behavior to understand the intention of small farmers in diversifying their agricultural production. J Rural Stud 49:32–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2016.10.006
- Sibhatu KT, Krishna VV, Qaim M (2015) Production diversity and dietary diversity in smallholder farm households. Proc Natl Acad Sci 112:10657–10662. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1510982112
- Sirami C, Gross N, Baillod AB et al (2019) Increasing crop heterogeneity enhances multitrophic diversity across agricultural regions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116:16442–16447. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.1906419116
- Skarbø K (2014) The cooked is the kept: factors shaping the maintenance of agro-biodiversity in the Andes. Hum Ecol 42:711–726. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745-014-9685-1
- Steward A (2013) Reconfiguring agrobiodiversity in the Amazon Estuary: market integration, the Açaí Trade and smallholders' management practices in Amapá, Brazil. Hum Ecol 41:827–840. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745-013-9608-6
- Tacconi F, Waha K, Ojeda JJ, Leith P (2021) Drivers and constraints of on-farm diversity. A review. Data file. figshare. https://doi.org/ 10.6084/m9.figshare.14151659.v2
- Tamburini G, Bommarco R, Wanger TC, et al (2020) Agricultural diversification promotes multiple ecosystem services without compromising yield. Sci Adv 6:. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv. aba1715
- Tesfaye W, Tirivayi N (2020) Crop diversity, household welfare and consumption smoothing under risk: evidence from rural Uganda. World Dev 125:104686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019. 104686
- Torres B, Vasco C, Guenter S, Knoke T (2018) Determinants of agricultural diversification in a hotspot area: evidence from colonist and indigenous communities in the Sumaco Biosphere Reserve, Ecuadorian Amazon. SUSTAINABILITY 10:. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/su10051432
- Tun Oo A, Van Huylenbroeck G, Speelman S (2017) Determining factors for the application of climate change adaptation strategies among farmers in Magwe District, dry zone region of Myanmar. Int J Clim Chang Strateg Manag 9:36–55. https://doi.org/10. 1108/IJCCSM-09-2015-0134
- Valencia V, Wittman H, Blesh J (2019) Structuring markets for resilient farming systems. Agron Sustain Dev 39:25. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s13593-019-0572-4

- van der Ploeg JD, Laurent C, Blondeau F, Bonnafous P (2009) Farm diversity, classification schemes and multifunctionality. J Environ Manage 90:S124–S131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman. 2008.11.022
- Velásquez-Milla D, Casas A, Torres-Guevara J, Cruz-Soriano A (2011) Ecological and socio-cultural factors influencing in situ conservation of crop diversity by traditional Andean households in Peru. J Ethnobiol Ethnomed 7:. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-4269-7-40
- Weigel R, Koellner T, Poppenborg P, Bogner C (2018) Crop diversity and stability of revenue on farms in Central Europe: an analysis of big data from a comprehensive agricultural census in Bavaria. PLoS ONE 13:1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.02074 54
- Williams NE (2016) The political ecology of "ethnic" agricultural biodiversity maintenance in Atlantic Nicaragua. J Polit Ecol 23:223–245. https://doi.org/10.2458/v23i1.20210
- Williams NE, Carrico AR, Edirisinghe I, Jayamini Champika PA (2018) Assessing the impacts of agrobiodiversity maintenance on food security among farming households in Sri Lanka's Dry Zone. Econ Bot 72:196–206. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12231-018-9418-2
- Williams NE, Kramer DB (2019) Agricultural biodiversity maintenance in a coastal socio-ecological system: the Pearl Lagoon Basin, Nicaragua. Hum Ecol 47:111–120. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10745-018-0042-7
- World Bank (2021) Country classification. In: World Bank's Data. https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/topics/ 19280-country-classification. Accessed 21 Feb 2021
- Zampaligré N, Dossa LH, Schlecht E (2014) Climate change and variability: Perception and adaptation strategies of pastoralists and agro-pastoralists across different zones of Burkina Faso. Reg Environ Chang 14:769–783. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10113-013-0532-5
- Zawedde BM, Harris C, Alajo A et al (2014) Factors influencing diversity of farmers' varieties of sweet potato in Uganda: implications for conservation. Econ Bot 68:337–349. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12231-014-9278-3

**Publisher's note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Springer Nature or its licensor (e.g. a society or other partner) holds exclusive rights to this article under a publishing agreement with the author(s) or other rightsholder(s); author self-archiving of the accepted manuscript version of this article is solely governed by the terms of such publishing agreement and applicable law.